RECEIVED

03-27-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2014AP002770-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALBERT J. CHAGNON,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Review of a Non-Final Order Entered in the Winnebago County Circuit Court on November 21, 2014, the Honorable Scott C. Woldt Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

COLLEEN MARION Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1089028

Office of the State Public Defender Post Office Box 7862 Madison, WI 53707-7862 (608) 267-5176 marionc@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether possessing photographs of clothed children taken from magazines and newspapers is a violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.14, which prohibits a registered sex offender from intentionally capturing a representation of a minor without parental consent.

The circuit court answered yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication is warranted because there is no Wisconsin case law on Wis. Stat. § 948.14, which was enacted in 2006. A decision interpreting the meaning and scope of the statute is necessary to guide lower courts and to ensure a fair and uniform application of the law. Oral argument is not requested, but would be welcomed if ordered.

RELEVANT STATUTES

948.14 Registered sex offender and photographing minors.

Definitions. In this section: (a) "Captures a representation" has the meaning given in s. 942.09 (1)
(a).

(b) "Minor" means an individual who is under 17 years of age.

(c) "Representation" has the meaning giving in s. 942.09 (1) (c).

(d) "Sex offender" means a person who is required to register under s. 301.45.

(2) Prohibition. (a) A sex offender may not intentionally capture a representation of any minor without the written consent of the minor's parent, legal custodian, or guardian. The written consent required under this paragraph shall state that the person seeking the consent is required to register as a sex offender with the department of corrections.

(b) Paragraph (a) does not apply to a sex offender who is capturing a representation of a minor if the sex offender is the minor's parent, legal custodian, or guardian.

(3) Penalty. Whoever violates sub. (2) is guilty of a Class I felony.

942.09 Representations depicting nudity.

(1) In this section: (a) "Captures a representation" means takes a photograph, makes a motion picture, videotape, or other visual representation, or records or stores in any medium data that represents a visual image.

(am) "Nude or partially nude person" has the meaning given in s. 942.08 (1) (a).

•••

(2) (am) Whoever does any of the following is guilty of a Class I felony: 1. Captures a representation that depicts nudity without the knowledge and consent of the person who is depicted nude while that person is nude in a circumstance in which he or she has a reasonable expectation of privacy, if the person knows or has reason to know that the person who is depicted nude does not know of and consent to the capture of the representation.

[2. make a reproduction] [3. possess, distribute, exhibit]

...

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State charged Mr. Chagnon with 23 counts of intentionally photographing a minor as a registered sex offender without parental consent, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 948.14(2)(a). In addition, the State charged 4 counts of violating a law governing a state penal institution, contrary to Wis. Stat. § 946.73. (1).

This appeal concerns counts 1-23 of the complaint. As relevant to those charges, the complaint alleged that, after Mr. Chagnon was released from Oshkosh Correctional Institution, a correctional officer conducted an inventory of his belongings. The officer found a red notebook in Mr. Chagnon's pants pocket that contained images of clothed children 12 and under that appeared to be cut out of magazines and newspapers. Next to the photos were handwritten comments of a sexually explicit nature. In addition, some photos were accompanied by the names and ages of the children. (1:11-14). The other charges are for violating the prison rules (because the notebook and other materials that were found are considered contraband).

The notebook was turned over to the Oshkosh Police Department. Detective Wilson located 23 parents of the children from the publications. They said they did not consent to Mr. Chagnon having the photos. (13:7).

Defense counsel filed a motion and supplemental motion to dismiss the charges based on the insufficiency of the complaint. (3, 6). Counsel agreed that Mr. Chagnon was a registered sex offender. However, counsel argued that the statute intended to prohibit the creation of images of children, not mere possession. None of the photos were created by Mr. Chagnon. The State countered that the statutory definition of "capture" includes "store in any medium data that represents a visual image." (5).

The Winnebago County Circuit Court, the Honorable Scott C. Woldt presiding, held a hearing and denied the motion to dismiss. (14). The court ruled:

With respect to the four elements of the crime,¹ we're dealing here with the second element which is the defendant captures a representation of a minor. According to the definition of the -- of what that means, the jury instruction clearly indicates "captures a representation" means stores in any medium data that represents a visual image. This is not so much according to the legislative history and my knowledge of the statute and when it came down is that we're concerned about is people who are on the Sexual Offender Registry not only taking but storing this type of data, and when someone takes these photographs of minors and puts them in a notebook and writes things next to them, that is exactly what this statute is about. We do not want people to - - who have this history of being required to -- or because of the sexual nature and the Sexual Offender Registry, we don't want those people taking these types or having these types of images no matter what source they get them from...

(14:4-5; App 101-107).

A written order denying the motion was filed on November 21, 2014. (7). Mr. Chagnon filed a petition for leave to appeal this non-final order. This Court granted the petition on January 7, 2015. (11).

This appeal follows.

¹ The parties focused their argument on the jury instruction for Wis. Stat. § 948.14(2)(a), WIS-Jury Instruction 2196.

ARGUMENT

- I. Possessing Photographs of Clothed Children Taken from Newspapers, Magazines, and Other Publications Does Not Constitute "Capturing" an Image and is Therefore Not a Violation of Wis. Stat. § 948.14.
 - A. Standard of review and legal principles of statutory interpretation.

Statutory interpretation presents a question of law that this Court reviews de novo. *State v. Johnson*, 2009 WI 57, ¶63, 318 Wis. 2d 21, 767 N.W.2d 207. To the extent that statutory interpretation raises a constitutional issue, this issue is also reviewed de novo. *Id.*

"The purpose of statutory interpretation is to determine what the statute means so that it may be given its full, proper, and intended effect." *State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane County*, 2004 WI 58, ¶44, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110. Thus, statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute. "If this process of analysis yields a plain, clear statutory meaning, then there is no ambiguity, and the statute is applied according to this ascertainment of its meaning"; legislative history does not need to be consulted. However, "the court is free to consult legislative history to confirm or verify a plain-meaning interpretation." *Id.*, ¶51.

If the meaning is ambiguous, the reviewing court will look to extrinsic sources such as legislative history to determine the intent of the legislature. A statute is ambiguous "if it is capable of being understood by reasonably wellinformed persons in two or more senses." *Bruno v. Milwaukee County*, 2003 WI 28, ¶19, 260 Wis. 2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 656. Statutory language is "given its common, ordinary, and accepted meaning, except that technical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning." *Bruno*, 260 Wis. 2d 633, at ¶¶8, 20. Context is important and statutory language is interpreted "reasonably to avoid absurd or unreasonable results." *Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633 at ¶46; *also see State v. Lamar*, 2011 WI 50, ¶33, 334 Wis. 2d 536, 799 N.W.2d 758.

The legislature is presumed to have drafted a law in a constitutional manner. *State v. Cole*, 2003 WI 112, ¶11, 264 Wis. 2d 520, 665 N.W.2d 328. The Wisconsin Supreme Court has held that it "indulges every presumption to sustain the law if at all possible, and if any doubt exists about a statute's constitutionality, we must resolve that doubt in favor of constitutionality." *Id.* at ¶11. Finally, "penal statutes are to be strictly construed in favor of the accused." *State v. Schaller*, 70 Wis. 2d 107, 110, 233 N.W.2d. 416 (1975).

B. Wis. Stat. § 948.14 prohibits registered sex offenders from creating—not possessing— images of minors without parental consent.

At the outset, it is important to recognize that this case is not about child pornography. The photos found in the notebook were of fully-clothed children from regularly circulated publications. As such, the issue is whether a registered sex offender may be arrested, charged, and convicted of a felony for simply possessing a published, nonpornographic photo of a child without that child's parents' consent.²

 $^{^2}$ Another interesting question presented by this case, but not litigated below, is the issue of "consent." Presumably, by allowing their children's photos to be published, the parents gave some type of consent.

The controversy in this case centers on the meaning of the term "capture." Section 948.14, was enacted in 2006. In substantive part it provides that "a sex offender may not intentionally capture a representation of any minor without the written consent of the minor's parent, legal custodian, or guardian."³

The statute incorporates the definition of "capture" provided in Wis. Stat. § 942.09.⁴ Section 942.09 prohibits a person from taking a picture or video of a nude or partially nude person without that person's consent. The statute prohibits creating the image, reproducing the image, and even merely possessing the image.

The term "capture" was added to § 942.09 in 2001 Wisconsin Act 33 as subsection (1)(a).

'Captures a representation' means takes a photograph, makes a motion picture, videotape, or other visual representation, or records or stores in any medium data that represents a visual image.

The corresponding assembly bill, 2001 Assembly Bill 60, contains an analysis by the Legislative Reference Bureau. The analysis explains that one of the changes being made by the bill was to expand the category of prohibited representations to include digital images. It states:

The bill expands the categories of representations that a person may not create, reproduce, possess, or distribute

 $^{^{3}}$ It also provides that the written consent shall state that the person seeking the consent is required to register as a sex offender with the department of corrections, and the prohibition does not apply if the sex offender is the minor's parent, legal custodian, or guardian.

⁴ Section 948.14(1)(a) states, "[c] aptures a representation" has the meaning given in s. 942.09 (1) (a)."

by prohibiting creation, reproduction, possession, or distribution of data representations of visual images including computer programs and *the stored memory of an image captured with a digital camera*.

(emphasis added).

This analysis shows that the purpose behind the statutory changes was to keep up with changing technology to close any loopholes. Whereas traditionally, a photo would necessarily be in physical form—it would need to be developed to see it—digital cameras made it possible to create an image without creating a physical item.

The circuit court held that the term "store in any medium," means that merely possessing the images, whether digital or physical, is prohibited. The court was mistaken. All of the terms included in the definition of "capture" have to do with *creating* an image. The other definitions are "takes a photograph," make "a motion picture, "videotape," or "other visual representation." One rule of statutory construction, ejudem generis, states that the meaning of a general phrase when placed in a string of specific terms is limited to the "same kind, class, character, or nature, as those enumerated." *Cheatham v. State*, 85 Wis. 2d 112, 270 N.W.2d 194 (1978). In context, the term "store in any medium data that represents a visual image" means to create an image using a digital camera or digital video camera.

Moreover, the Assembly Bill, having created the definition of "capture," proceeded to replace terms such as "take a photograph, make a motion picture, or other visual representation or production" with the word "capture." This demonstrates that the term "capture" was meant as shorthand for various types of image-creation.

Under § 948.14, it is the creation, not mere possession, of an image of a child by a registered sex offender that is prohibited. The Legislative Reference Bureau's analysis to the bill that created the law, 2005 Assembly Bill 251, states: "[t]his bill prohibits persons who are required to register as sex offenders from intentionally photographing, filming, or videotaping any person under the age of 17 unless [parental consent]."

The legislature knows how to prohibit mere possession and chose not to do so here. For example, simple possession of child pornography is illegal. Wis. Stat. § 948.12.⁵ Likewise, in addition to prohibiting the capture of images of a nude person, Wis. Stat. § 942.09—from which the definition of "capture" is taken—also prohibits "possession" under subsection (2)(am)(3):

(2)(am) Whoever does any of the following is guilty of a Class I felony:

- 1. Captures a representation...
- 2. Makes a reproduction of a representation...
- 3. Possesses, distributes, or exhibits a representation...

If possession was encompassed in the definition of "capture," the use of the term "possession" would be superfluous. "Statutory language is read where possible to give reasonable effect to every word, in order to avoid surplusage." **Bruno**, 260 Wis. 2d 633, at ¶24. Under § 948.14, a registered sex offender may not take pictures of children, for example, at a park or sports game without the

 $^{^{5}}$ *Also see e.g.*, Wis. Stat. § 941.24, possession of a switchblade knife, Wis. Stat. § 941.292, possession of a weaponized drone, and all of Chapter 961, the uniform controlled substance act.

parents' consent. Possessing pictures of clothed children from publications such as magazines and newspapers is different and is not prohibited.

C. The State's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 948.14 creates constitutional problems.

Mr. Chagnon did not raise a constitutional challenge to the statute in his petition for review of a non-final order. Instead, this appeal centers on statutory interpretation.⁶ The legislature is presumed to have drafted a law in a constitutional manner and every effort is made to sustain a law by resolving any doubt in favor of constitutionality. *Cole*, 264 Wis. 2d 520, ¶11. If this Court agrees that Mr. Chagnon's conduct does not meet the statutory definition of "capture," the court does not need to decide the constitutionality of § 948.14. On the other hand, if this Court agrees with the circuit court, the following constitutional issues are presented.

1. Due process.

Vagueness is a procedural due process concept, based on notions of fair play. A statute is void for vagueness if it does not provide "fair notice" of prohibited conduct and does not provide objective standards for enforcement of violations. *State v. Smith*, 215 Wis. 2d 84, 572 N.W.2d 496 (Ct. App. 1997).

If cutting out a photo of a child from a publication is unlawful for a registered sex offender, where do we draw the line? Under the State's view, a person like Mr. Chagnon risks the humiliation and harm of being arrested, charged, and

⁶ This Court's order granting review states that "[b]riefing is limited to those issues outlined in the petition." (11).

convicted of a felony offense for a wide-range of normal, everyday behavior. What if a person such as Mr. Chagnon accepted a flyer handed to him on the street that contains an image of a clothed child? What about a person who receives an unsolicited catalog from a toy store in the mail and does not immediately dispose of it? Would a person such as Mr. Chagnon be prohibited from having a newspaper subscription, since images of children are often featured?

The circuit court's interpretation of § 948.14 leads to unreasonable and absurd results. *See Kalal*, 271 Wis. 2d 633 at ¶46. It makes it impossible to draw a line between acceptable everyday conduct and prohibited activity. Due Process requires that the government put individuals on notice that their conduct is unlawful. The State's interpretation, if accepted, would render the statute void for vagueness.

2. First amendment.

If the circuit court's interpretation of the meaning of "capture" in this context was correct, the statute would violate the First Amendment because it prohibits mere possession of non-pornographic images of children.⁷ "As a general principle, the First Amendment bars the government from dictating what we see or read or speak or hear." *Ashcroft v. Free Speech Coalition,* 535 U.S. 234, 245 (2002). "The First Amendment does not permit the imposition of criminal sanctions when doing so would substantially chill protected speech." *State v. Weidner*, 2000 WI 52, ¶35, 235 Wis. 2d 306, 321-322, 611 N.W.2d 684.

⁷ The issue of whether Wis. Stat. § 948.14 is facially invalid as a violation of the First Amendment is pending in *State v. Christopher J. Oatman*, Case No. 2014AP002084-CR in District III.

It is true that "[t]he freedom of speech has its limits; it does not embrace certain categories of speech, including defamation, incitement, obscenity, and pornography produced with real children." *Id.*, at 245-246. However, the photos in this case do not fit any of these narrow exceptions. The photos are not obscene, nor are they pornographic.

In any case, this Court does not need to address any constitutional issues to resolve this appeal because, as explained above, the circuit court's interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 948.14 is incorrect.

In conclusion, a valid criminal complaint must allege facts that establish probable cause. Here, even accepting the alleged facts as true (because at this juncture they are merely allegations), the described conduct involves simple possession of published images of clothed children. This conduct does not violate Wis. Stat. § 948.14. As such, charges 1-23 of the complaint must be dismissed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Mr. Chagnon respectfully asks this Court to reverse the circuit court and remand with directions to dismiss counts 1-23 of the criminal complaint.