RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

04-22-2015

COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS **OF WISCONSIN**

DISTRICT II

Case No. 2014AP2770-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ALBERT J. CHAGNON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON PRETRIAL APPEAL FROM AN ORDER ENTERED IN WINNEBAGO COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE SCOTT C. WOLDT, CIRCUIT JUDGE, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT STATE OF WISCONSIN'S **BRIEF-IN-CHIEF**

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

GREGORY M. WEBER **Assistant Attorney General** State Bar #1018533

Attorneys for the State of Wisconsin, Plaintiff-Respondent

Issue Presented

Wisconsin law prohibits registered sex offenders from intentionally *capturing a representation* of a minor without parental consent. Chagnon, a registered sex offender, allegedly clipped photographs of young girls out of print publications, mounted them in a notebook, and added handwritten, graphic sexual comments. He claims this conduct doesn't constitute capturing a representation because he didn't create the original images of children. Is he right?

Relevant Statutes

Wisconsin Stat. § 948.14 (Registered sex offender and photographing minors) provides in pertinent part:

(1) DEFINITIONS. In this section:

(a) "Captures a representation" has the meaning given in s. 942.09 (1) (a).

. . . .

(2) PROHIBITION.

(a) A sex offender may not intentionally capture a representation of any minor without the written consent of the minor's parent, legal custodian, or guardian. The written consent required under this paragraph shall state that the person seeking the consent is required to register as a sex offender with the department of corrections.

Wisconsin Stat. § 942.09 (Representations depicting nudity) provides in pertinent part:

(1) In this section:

(a) "Captures a representation" means takes a photograph, makes a motion picture, videotape, or other visual representation, or records or stores in any medium data that represents a visual image.

. . . .

(c) "Representation" means a photograph, exposed film, motion picture, videotape, other visual representation, or data that represents a visual image.

Argument

I. A registered sex offender who intentionally clips photographs of young girls out of print publications, mounts them in a notebook, and adds handwritten, graphic sexual comments, captures a representation under Wis. Stat. §§ 942.09 and 948.14.

A. Introduction.

Corrections officers inventoried Chagnon's personal property before his scheduled release from Oshkosh Correctional Institution. They found a small notebook containing pictures of young girls, clipped from a newspaper and magazines and mounted on the pages. Chagnon had written graphic, sexual comments on many of the pages (1:11-14; 12; 14:4-8, 11-15).

Chagnon's a registered sex offender from Oneida County (1:14). Law enforcement officers identified some of the young girls as dance students pictured in a Minocqua newspaper (14:8-9, 17-18). The officers confirmed lack of parental consent to Chagnon's conduct (14:6-8, 18). He now faces twenty-three counts of violating Wis. Stat. § 948.14. (9).

Chagnon challenged the sufficiency of the criminal complaint as to those twenty-three charges. He claimed the statute applies only to registered sex offenders who photograph or film children, or who record or store such images digitally (3:1-2). The circuit court disagreed and denied Chagnon's motion to dismiss the charges (7; 15:3-5).

Chagnon successfully petitioned for leave to appeal the circuit court's order (11).

The parties now ask this court to interpret Wis. Stat. § 948.14. Does Chagnon's alleged conduct fall within the scope of the statute?

It does.

"A cardinal rule in interpreting statutes is to favor a construction that will fulfill the purpose of the statute over a construction that defeats the manifest object of the act." *Burlington Graphic Systems, Inc. v. DWD, Equal Rights Division,* 2015 WI App 11, ¶ 8, 359 Wis. 2d 647, 859 N.W.2d 446 (citation and quotation marks omitted). Wis. Stat. § 948.14 addresses four harsh realities.

First, sex offenders can use mundane pictures to fantasize and fuel deviant sexual attractions. "It is commonly believed that pedophiles should not have pictures of children because such pictures fuel their sexual attraction to children and leads to increased attraction." *Tran v. Kriz*, No. 08-C-0228, 2009 WL 5125222 at *6 (E.D. Wis. Dec. 18, 2009). "For example, a catalogue showing pictures of preadolescent children in underwear is arousing to some pedophiles." Georgia Cumming & Maureen Buell, *Supervision of the Sex Offender* 29 (1999).

CCAP records reveal Chagnon's prior conviction for possession of child pornography in Oneida County Circuit Court Case No. 2002CF166.

A registered sex offender sexually attracted to children could easily eroticize mundane pictures. The graphic, handwritten sexual annotations in Chagnon's notebook (12) leave no doubt as to why he created and kept it. *See also* 14:13-14 (preliminary examination testimony regarding Chagnon's sexual attraction to young girls).

Second, no "cure" exists for sex offenders. Standard treatment focuses on behavior management. That includes separating offenders from situations that could lead to reoffending:

Sexual abuser-specific treatment is designed to assist clients with effectively managing thoughts, fantasies, feelings, attitudes, and behaviors associated with their potential to sexually abuse. In addition to reducing risk for sexual and/or non-sexual recidivism, treatment is designed to assist clients with developing a prosocial lifestyle that is inconsistent with offending.

Association for the Treatment of Sexual Abusers, *ATSA Practice Guidelines for the Assessment, Treatment, and Management of Male Adult Sexual Abusers* 29 (2014).

Third, most sex offenders remain in or return to the community. "In light of the rapid growth of civil commitment laws that attempt to significantly delay imprisoned sex offenders from returning to the community, it may come as a surprise to many that most convicted sex offenders remain in or return to the community rather than being held in prison." Kim English, *The Containment Approach to Managing Sex Offenders*, 34 Seton Hall L. Rev. 1255, 1256 (2004).

And finally, sex offender treatment sometimes fails.

Wisconsin Stat. § 948.14 responds to these realities. It addresses the type of conduct allegedly committed by Chagnon—conduct with no social utility, and a likely precursor to reoffending. It protects potential victims, and may provide sex offenders with an additional incentive to manage their behavior. "Offenders are expected to assume full responsibility for the damage they inflict and to take measures to prevent future abusive behaviors. The threat of criminal justice consequences helps motivate the non-voluntary clients to engage fully in treatment." English, 34 Seton Hall L. Rev. at 1266.

Here, Chagnon distinguishes *creating* an image of a child from *possessing* an image of a child. The statute criminalizes the first, says Chagnon, but not the second. "Under § 948.14, it is the creation, not mere possession, of an image of a child by a registered sex offender that is prohibited." Chagnon's brief-in-chief at 9. He asserts that he possessed the pictures in his notebook, and that's it.

But Chagnon did far more than just possess pictures.

Read in tandem, Wis. Stat. §§ 942.09 and 948.14 say that if a registered sex offender intentionally makes a visual representation of a child, or records or stores, in any medium, data that represents a visual image of a child, he's captured a representation. He's created something.

That's what Chagnon did.

The State's allegations and preliminary proof support two theories of criminal liability:

- Chagnon made visual representations of twenty-three children by clipping their pictures from various sources-newspapers, magazines, other print publications—and mounting them in his notebook. By removing the pictures from their original source and mounting them in a different location, in a different context, and then adding his own comments, he created new visual representations.
- Chagnon stored data that represented a visual image of a child in a medium. The clipped pictures constituted data that represented a visual image of a child. His notebook? The medium. The operative words—visual, representation, record, store, medium, data, and image—all have meaning outside the worlds of photography and digital imagery. They all apply to the fact situation present here.

The State concedes that the legislature probably had sex offenders photographing or filming children in mind when they considered and passed Wis. Stat. § 948.14. It didn't foresee how a sex offender like Chagnon, imprisoned without access to cameras

and children, might create his own visual representations out of the materials available to him.

But that lack of foresight doesn't matter. In the absence of specific limiting language, statutory provisions apply to all situations fairly included within their terms. *State v. Badzmierowski*, 171 Wis. 2d 260, 263-64, 490 N.W.2d 784 (Ct. App. 1992). "If the language of a statute reasonably covers a situation, the statute applies irrespective of whether the legislature ever contemplated that specific application." 2B Norman J. Singer & J.D. Shambie Singer, *Statutes and Statutory Construction* 414-415 (7th ed., 2012) (footnote omitted).

Chagnon's alleged conduct falls well within the scope of the statute, as demonstrated below.

B. The standard of appellate review and the relevant principles of statutory construction.

Statutory construction presents a question of law, reviewed de novo. *State v. Hemp*, 2014 WI 129, 359 Wis. 2d 320, ¶12, 856 N.W.2d 811.

"Statutory interpretation begins with the language of the statute, and, if the language is unambiguous, we apply the statute's plain language to the facts at hand." *Id.* at ¶ 13. "[T]he meaning of a statute must, in the first instance, be sought in the language in which the act is framed, and if that is plain . . . the sole function of the courts is to enforce it according to its terms." *Caminetti v. United States*, 242 U.S. 470, 485 (1917) (citations omitted). "Statutory words are uniformly presumed, unless the contrary appears, to be used in their ordinary and usual sentence, and with the meaning commonly attributed to them." *Id.* at 485-86.

The legislature's decision not to define specific terms in a statute doesn't render it ambiguous. Reviewing courts will interpret nontechnical words and phrases according to their common, approved usage. *Hemp*, 359 Wis. 2d 320, ¶ 12. Dictionary definitions will suffice. *State v. Brown*, 2014 WI 69, 355 Wis. 2d 668, ¶ 17, 850 N.W.2d 66.

The legislature's decision not to exempt certain conduct from operation of the statute gives it broader application. Wisconsin Stat. § 948.14 contains no language limiting the way in which a sex offender may *capture a representation*. In the absence of such limiting language, the provision applies to all situations fairly included within its terms. *See Badzmierowski*, 171 Wis. 2d at 263-64; *Hanson v*. *Eichstaedt*, 69 Wis. 538, 546, 35 N.W. 30 (1887). This court should not exclude situations or fact scenarios from operation of a statute simply because they may not have been the primary focus of the provision. *State v. Cornelius*, 152 Wis. 2d 272, 278 n.1, 448 N.W.2d 434 (Ct. App. 1989). "It is the spirit or intention of the statute which should govern over the literal meaning of the language used. The object to be accomplished by the statute must be given great weight in determining the legislative intent." *Town of Menominee v. Skubitz*, 53 Wis. 2d 430, 437, 192 N.W.2d 887 (1972) (citations omitted).

C. The relevant, undefined statutory terms—visual, representation, record, store, medium, data, and image—all have common, approved dictionary definitions.

The New Oxford American Dictionary (2nd ed., 2005) defines each key term in Wis. Stat. § 942.09:

- *Visual:* "[O]f or relating to seeing or sight [A] picture, piece of film, or display used to illustrate or accompany something."
- Representation: "[T]he depiction of someone or something in a picture or other work of art {A] thing, esp. a picture or model, that depicts a likeness or reproduction of someone or something[.]"
- *Record:* "[S]et down in writing or some other permanent form for later reference, esp. officially[.]"
- *Store*: "[K]eep or accumulate (something) for future use[.]"
- Medium: "[A] means by which something is communicated or expressed."

- Data: "Data was originally the plural of the Latin word datum, 'something (e.g. a piece of information) given.' Data is now used as a singular where it means 'information'[.]" See also The American Heritage Dictionary of the English Language (3rd ed. 1992) (defining data as '[f]actual information, especially information organized for analysis or used to reason or make decisions").
- *Image:* "[A] representation of the external form of a person or thing in sculpture, painting, etc."

The key terms now properly defined, this court should conclude that Chagnon's alleged conduct falls within the scope of Wis. Stat. 948.14.

D. A registered sex offender who intentionally clips photographs of young girls out of print publications, mounts them in a notebook, and adds handwritten, graphic sexual comments, captures a representation under Wis. Stat. §§ 942.09 and 948.14.

The State alleges that Chagnon *captured a representation* in at least two different ways.

First, he did it by making visual representations of minors. He found pictures of young girls in a newspaper and other print publications, clipped them out, and mounted them in his notebook. He removed the pictures from their original sources, mounted them in a different location, changed their context dramatically, and added a new visual component to them – his graphic sexual comments.

Chagnon says that "[u]nder § 948.14, it is the creation, not mere possession, of an image of a child by a registered sex offender that it prohibited." Chagnon's brief-in-chief at 9. That's precisely what Chagnon did. That he used pictures taken by others doesn't make it any less a creation. Artists routinely combine pictures and

images taken from various sources to create photomontages.¹ No one would seriously suggest the end product isn't the artist's creation, even though it includes images made by others.

Chagnon's no artist, but the technique's the same. He made—created—visual representations of minors.

Second, Chagnon captured a representation by storing data that represented visual images of a child in a medium.

He stored the pictures for his future use by mounting them in his notebook.

The data, or information, that represented visual images? The pictures themselves, clipped from the newspaper.

The medium? The notebook.

Chagnon's alleged conduct fits within the language of the statute. Again, the legislature may not have contemplated conduct like Chagnon's when it wrote Wis. Stat. § 948.14. They may have been worried about registered sex offenders taking pictures of children. "But it is not, and cannot be, our practice to restrict the unqualified language of a statute to the particular evil that Congress was trying to remedy—even assuming that it is possible to identify that evil from something other than the text of the statute itself." Brogan v. United States, 522 U.S. 398, 403 (1998). "[I]t is no bar to interpreting a statute as applicable that the question which is raised on the statute never occurred to the legislature." Eastern Air Lines, Inc. v. Civil Aeronautics Board, 354 F.2d 507, 511 (D.C. Cir. 1965) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

¹A "[t]echnique by which a composite photographic image is formed by combining images from separate photographic sources." http://www.moma.org/collection/theme.php?theme_id=10158 (last visited April 6, 2015).

Chagnon's alleged conduct falls within the scope of Wis. Stat. § 948.14. The circuit court didn't err in refusing to dismiss the twenty-three charges.

II. Chagnon has forfeited any constitutional objections to Wis. Stat. § 948.14.

Chagnon's original motion to dismiss the twenty-three counts (3) and his supplement (6) raised no constitutional issues or challenges to Wis. Stat. § 948.14. He asserted no constitutional challenges in his petition for leave to appeal.

Now, Chagnon asserts First and Fifth Amendment "constitutional problems" resulting from the State's interpretation of the statute. Chagnon's brief-in-chief at 10-12.

This court normally won't address claims not properly raised and argued in the circuit court. *Wirth v. Ehly,* 93 Wis. 2d 433, 443–44, 287 N.W.2d 140, 145 (1980). "This is especially so for a claim that a statute is unconstitutional." *City of Mequon v. Hess,* 158 Wis. 2d 500, 506, 463 N.W.2d 687 (Ct. App. 1990) (citation omitted).

No reason exists to relieve Chagnon from operation of this forfeiture rule. Chagnon didn't challenge Wis. Stat. § 948.14 on Fifth Amendment, void-for-vagueness grounds because he didn't consider the statute vague. He specifically claimed it didn't cover what the State alleged he did (3:1-2).

And as noted at page 2, *supra*, a First Amendment challenge has been properly preserved and briefed in *State of Wisconsin v. Christopher J. Oatman*, No. 2014AP2084-CR., now pending in District III.

Conclusion

"[P]rison does nothing about the fantasy and the planning" undertaken by men sexually fixated on children. "The obsession is maintained by constant masturbation to fantasies of children. The

inmate emerges from incarceration at least as deviant as he went in." Anna C. Salter, Ph.D., *Predators: Pedophiles, Rapists, and Other Sex Offenders* 70-71 (2003).

Chagnon proves the point. The State has alleged that he captured representations of young girls even while in prison, and tried to take them along as corrections staff prepared to close the prison gates behind him.

As drafted, Wis. Stat. § 948.14 helps protect society from such intractable sex offenders. This court should conclude that the statute covers Chagnon's alleged conduct. It should affirm the circuit court order denying his motion to dismiss, and send the matter back to the circuit court so the prosecution may continue.